# Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-19-2017

# Eastman v. Farmers Insurance Company Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44889

## III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Statement of Facts are primarily cited from Plaintiff's Memorandum in Support of Summary Judgment. (R. 171-174) The parties did not dispute any material facts in their cross-motions for summary judgment. (See R. 321)

1. Jennifer Eastman is a 35-year-old registered nurse employed by Providence Sacred Heart Medical Center in Spokane, Washington. She is a single mother of one and resides in Post Falls, Idaho. On March 18, 2014, Jennifer was a passenger in a Spokane transit Authority bus traveling from Spokane to Post Falls. Spokane Transit Authority provides van pool bus (Van) services from the Idaho border to downtown Spokane. While being transported from Spokane to Post Falls her bus was violently struck from behind by a vehicle driven by Sydney Salzman. Ms. Eastman and 3 other individuals who were riding in the van were injured. (R. 172).

2. Ms. Eastman claims that the injury caused venous thrombosis that required surgery. As a result of the injury and subsequent surgery she lost considerable amounts of

income and incurred medical expenses in excess of \$209,237.60. In addition, Ms. Eastman suffers residual complications from the injury. (R. 172).

3. Ms. Salzman was insured with Progressive Insurance Company with policy limits of \$50,000.00 per person/\$100,000.00 per accident. On June 12, 2015 Ms. Salzman's insurance company settled with Jennifer Eastman for policy limits of \$50,000.00. (R. 172, 197-199).

4. The Spokane Transit Authority bus that Ms. Eastman was a passenger in provides UIM coverage in the amount of \$60,000.00, total for each bodily injury occurrence for passengers who are injured in its vehicles. After exhausting Ms. Salzman's insurance limits the 4 injured claimants made claims against the \$60,000.00 UIM coverage. The parties and their attorneys mutually agreed to settle the claims for the policy limits of \$60,000.00, with \$48,846.00 going to Ms. Eastman. (R. 200-02). Clearly Ms. Eastman suffered the greatest injury.

5. During the time period relevant to this matter, January 27, 2014 through July 27, 2014, Farmers had issued a policy of insurance to Plaintiff. Under the policy, Plaintiff had \$500,000.00 in underinsured motorist coverage (UIM). (R. 29, 53, 77, 79-80, 215-284).

6. In an email dated January 22, 2016 Plaintiff informed Farmers of Plaintiff's intent to settle the STA UIM portion of the insurance coverage and provided Farmers

3

with the option to purchase that interest. (R. 203-05). On February 10, 2016 Plaintiff received a letter from Farmers denying coverage under Ms. Eastman's UIM coverage. (R. 206-09).

7. On April 15, 2016 Plaintiff provided a settlement demand/proof of loss to Farmers Insurance demanding policy limits minus credit for amounts recovered from other available coverage. (R. 210-214).

8. Farmers bases its UIM coverage denial on the policy language relating to "other insurance":

COVERAGE C-1 UNDERinsured Motorist Coverage (FORM W2449102)

## **Other Insurance**

3. We will not provide insurance for a vehicle other than your insured car or insured motorcycle, unless the owner of that vehicle has no other insurance applicable to this part.

(R. 278).

# IV. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

Standard of Review

The Supreme Court applies the same standard as the district court when reviewing a grant of a motion for summary judgment. *Shawver v. Huckleberry Estates, L.L.C.*, 140 Idaho 354, 360, 93 P.3d 685, 691 (2004). Filing cross-motions for summary judgment does not change the standard of review and the Court evaluates each motion on its merits. *Stafford v. Klosterman*, 134 Idaho 205, 206, 998 P.2d 1118, 1119 (2000). Summary judgment is proper "if the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." I.R.C.P. 56(c). "This Court will liberally construe the record in favor of the party opposing the motion for summary judgment and will draw all reasonable inferences and conclusions in favor of that party." *Arreguin v. Farmers Ins. Co.*, 145 Idaho 459, 461, 180 P.3d 498, 500 (2008). The entire record is freely reviewed to determine if either side was entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law and to determine whether inferences drawn by the district court are reasonably supported by the record. *Potlatch Educ. Ass'n v. Potlatch Sch. Dist.*, 148 Idaho 630, 634, 226 P.3d 1277, 1281 (2010).

For the purposes of this appeal, there are no disputed facts in issue and the issues presented are purely legal. Summary judgment in this declaratory judgment should be granted to Plaintiff. The Court should find that Plaintiff is entitled to UIM coverage because (1) public policy supports covering Plaintiff for the offset damages, and (2) the language in Plaintiff's insurance agreement supports UIM coverage.

## Legal Argument

Plaintiff first argues that (A) the 2008 UIM mandate in I.C. § 41-2502 creating public policy entitles her to UIM coverage in this case. Plaintiff then argues that (B) the

additional language mandated in 2008 in Plaintiff's insurance policy grants her UIM coverage under the plain language. Plaintiff then explores how (C) the 2008 mandated language (Disclosure) must be deemed included in the insurance policy. Finally, Plaintiff argues that (D) she is entitled to UIM coverage because Defendant has not clearly and precisely limited UIM coverage under the terms of Plaintiff's insurance policy.

## **<u>1. PUBLIC POLICY</u>**

# A. The Public Policy Behind Requiring UIM Coverage Supports Plaintiff's UIM Coverage Claim With Farmers.

Plaintiff is entitled to UIM coverage under Idaho public policy. In 2008, the Idaho Legislature amended I.C. § 41-2502 to require insurance companies to offer UIM coverage. (R. 314-316) The UIM requirement created public policy to protect Idahoans from being undercompensated for their injuries:

The Legislature clearly enacted the UIM amendments to protect the citizens of this State from being undercompensated for their injuries..."

Hill v. American Family Mutual Insurance Company, 150 Idaho 619, 627 (2011). By

requiring UIM coverage, the Idaho Legislature acted to protect citizens from underinsured

drivers:

The Legislature accordingly intends to protect Idaho's citizens from driver's carrying policies above the statutorily required policy levels but who have insurance insufficient to compensate their tort victims.

*Id.* at 624. The Legislature mandated UIM coverage for two reasons: (1) to protect Idahoans with catastrophic injuries who would find themselves without sufficient coverage; and (2) to avoid the anomaly that injured Idaho motorists be in a position to collect more if the at fault driver had no insurance than if the driver was underinsured. *Id.* at 626.

Prior to 2008, Idaho statutes did not contain a UIM mandate. The absence of any UIM mandate prohibited insured's from making public policy arguments for UIM coverage:

[T]he sole reason there was no clear public policy regarding UIM coverage was because 'Idaho statutes do not regulate underinsured motorist coverage.'

Hill, 150 Idaho at 623 (citing Andrae v. Idaho Counties Risk Mgmt. Prgm. Underwriters,

145 Idaho 33, 36 (2007)).

We have rejected public policy challenges related to UIM policies *only* because 'our statutes do not require an automobile insurer to include underinsured vehicle coverage in its policies or even to offer this coverage to its insureds.

Id. (citing Farmers Ins. Co. v. Buffa, 119 Idaho 345, 347, 806 P.2d 438, 440 (1991)

(emphasis added).

The 2008 UIM mandate created public policy related to UIM coverage and changed prior Idaho case law. After 2008, the *Hill* case was the first to apply public

policy considerations to UIM coverage. *Hill* involved an insured's claim for UIM when the insured had settled with the tortfeasor for below policy limits for bodily injury. The question was whether an "exhaustion" clause in the insurance contract requiring the insured to deplete the tortfeasor's bodily insurance limit before making a claim against the UIM violated public policy. In ruling that it violated public policy, the Court focused on the 2008 UIM mandate as public policy that UIM exhaustion clauses thwart "the Legislature's goal of protecting motorists from underinsured drivers." *Id.* at 626. The Court noted that requiring insureds to secure full recovery would cause unnecessary litigation costs, expense, and delay if an insured was required to secure full recovery prior to making a UIM claim. *Id.* Furthermore, the Court noted that Idaho courts would have to suffer through unnecessary litigation so that claimants could preserve their benefits. *Id.* 

The Court agreed with other jurisdictions finding exhaustion clauses against public policy, citing the importance placed on UIM coverage public policy:

[T]he insured's ability to recover UIM benefits should be 'scrupulously guarded' because 'UIM coverage is intended to provide excess coverage to compensate an insured against losses for which there would otherwise be no coverage."

Id (emphasis added) (citing Horace Mann Ins. Co. v. Adkins, 599 S.E.2d 720, 725-26 (2004). Recently, the Supreme Court discussed UIM public policy when analyzing antistacking language. See *Gearhart v. Mutual of Enumclaw Ins. Co.*, 160 Idaho 664, 665 (2016). In *Gearhart*, the Supreme Court applied the public policy considerations addressed in the *Hill* case and found that allowing an insured to stack UIM coverage supported public policy. *Id.* at 668. In *Gearhart* the plaintiff was injured while traveling in a vehicle not owned by his parents and made a claim under each parents' separate UIM policy of \$300,000 each. *Id.* at 666. The insurance company argued that policy reasons supported rejecting the stacking of two \$300,000 UIM polices: anti-stacking should be upheld to make insurance affordable to other prospective insured. The Court found this argument unpersuasive:

It is posited that the anti-stacking provisions must be upheld in order to make insurance affordable and available to other prospective insureds. However, it is not clear that this is particularly accurate under the circumstances of this case. Both of Trent's parents bought Enumclaw policies that purportedly covered their child for up to \$300,000 in UIM benefits in the event of an accident. If the parents had decided to purchase just one policy with a much higher UIM benefit, it is debatable that the premium would have been more than twice as much. Indeed, it is intuitive that one single policy with a substantially higher limit would have likely been less than the cost of two separate policies with lower limits. Since the record does not disclose the premium costs that might have been involved under either scenario, it is debatable as to whether or not public policy would be better served by enforcing the anti-stacking limit contended for by Enumclaw under the facts of this case. What we do know with some certainty, however, is that reversal of the district court's judgment would result in Trent being substantially undercompensated for his injuries, even though reasonable insurance buyers would be excused if they were to conclude that two separate \$300,000 UIM policies purchased by two separate purchasers would be available to cover injuries exceeding \$600,000. We therefore affirm the district court's holding, but on the ground that the actual language employed in the Enumclaw policies is confusing to the extent that it is ineffective to establish a barrier to recovery of Trent's actual damages in the full amount of the limit provided in each of the two Enumclaw policies

## Id. at 668-669 (emphasis added).

*Gearhart* reiterated that public policy supports fully compensating tort victims:

It is difficult to see how the public policy enunciated in Hill is advanced by allowing Enumclaw to cause Trent to be undercompensated for his injuries by imposing the barrier of the anti-stacking provision under the circumstances of this case. It must be recalled that Trent's parents each purchased an Enumclaw policy, each paying the required premium in order to obtain \$300,000 in UIM benefits for the protection of their child. As noted above, Enumclaw concedes for purposes of this action that Trent's damages "exceeded the coverages available under all policies at issue in this case." If the barrier sought to be imposed by Enumclaw is allowed to be imposed, Trent will end up getting undercompensated by more than half. Thus, either his parents or perhaps the taxpayers will end up having to bear the additional costs for his medical care.

Id. at 668 (emphasis added). Premiums were paid for both policies and public policy

supported stacking both UIM limits to fully compensate the Plaintiff.

## The Purdy case and other jurisdictions:

Now that public policy attaches to UIM coverage, prior Idaho cases dealing with

UIM must be re-visited. For instance, Purdy v. Farmers Insurance Company, 65 P.3d 184

(2002), would not be good case law. In Purdy, the Court denied UIM coverage under

facts and language similar to our case, finding that the language in the policy was not ambiguous. But *Purdy* only dealt with contract interpretation arguments: public policy arguments were not argued or addressed. With the 2008 UIM mandate, the law changed—invalidating *Purdy*'s holding.

Other jurisdictions have found that "other insurance" provisions related to UIM denials violate public policy. *See Kline v. Famers Insurance Exchange*, 277 Neb. 874 (2009); (Exclusion denying UIM coverage when a person is injured while occupying a vehicle they do not own but is insured for UIM coverage under another's policy was void and against public policy); *Estate of Sinn by Sinn v. Mid-Century Ins. Co.*, 288 III.All.3d 193 (1997) ("Other insurance" provision that states that the insurer would not provide UIM benefits for vehicle other than the owned insured car unless the other owner lacked UIM coverage was against public policy.); *Veach v. Farmers Ins. Co.*, 460 N.W.2d 845 (Iowa 1990) (UIM policy exclusion is void against public policy because it excludes from coverage any vehicle not owned by the named insured which has UIM coverage under a different policy.) Finding UIM coverage in this case is consistent with these other jurisdictions.

## Public Policy in this case

In our case, UIM coverage is now mandated and the public policy identified in *Hill* supports a finding of UIM coverage here. Plaintiff received a total of \$98,846.00 in

compensation from the tortfeasor and the Van's UIM coverage. Plaintiff claims damages well above this total amount recovered. As *Hill* identified, UIM is meant to protect Idaho citizens from drivers with insufficient insurance coverage. To deny Plaintiff a UIM claim would leave her in a position where she suffered a catastrophic injury "without redress." This flies directly in the face of the UIM public policy.

Importantly, Plaintiff would have fully recovered under her UIM if the Van had no insurance at all.<sup>1</sup> The *Hill* case specifically spoke out against this contradictory situation where Plaintiff would be in a better position if the Van carried no coverage at all. This is the exact situation the *Hill* case was seeking to avoid. Placing a Plaintiff in a position to recover more if a driver was uninsured than underinsured is an anomaly of prior case law: an anomaly that the UIM mandate is meant to rectify. Here, Plaintiff should benefit the same from insurance coverage she purchased whether the Van carried UIM or not.

The analysis in the *Gearhart* case is analogous to our case. Plaintiff asserts special damages (in excess of \$209,237.60) well above the total recoverable insurance of \$98,846.00, which includes considerable amounts of income and incurred medical expenses. Just like in *Gearhart*, Farmers is trying to avoid stacking UIM benefits in this case. As *Gearhart* emphasized, Plaintiff paid for UIM coverage of \$500,000 under her

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Farmers argues that since the Van had (the bare minimum) UIM coverage, Plaintiff cannot seek the benefit of her remaining \$500,000 UIM policy. Under the terms of the "other insurance" provision, this exlusion does not apply if the Van has no insurance at all. (R. 275, 314)

policy. If she is denied the right to recover UIM benefits *she paid for* she will be undercompensated for her injury. The public policy identified in *Hill* and *Gearhart* supports Plaintiff's UIM coverage.

The bottom line is, Plaintiff paid for UIM coverage of \$500,000 under her policy. Plaintiff asserts damages well above the total recoverable insurance of \$98,846.00. Plaintiff's right to recover UIM benefits must be "scrupulously guarded...to provide excess coverage to compensate [plaintiff] against losses for which there would otherwise be no coverage." *Hill*, 150 Idaho at 626. Plaintiff deserves to be compensated for coverage she paid for. Denial of UIM coverage in this instance violates public policy.

## 2. INSURANCE POLICY CONTRACT

# **B.** Under The Terms Of The Insurance Agreement, Plaintiff Is Entitled To UIM Coverage.

## 1. 2008 Language Defining UIM

The 2008 amendments to I.C. § 41-2502 mandated language that provides UIM in this case. The general rule is that because insurance contracts are adhesion contracts, typically not subject to negotiation between the parties, any ambiguity that exists in the contract "must be construed most strongly against the insurer." *Mutual of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. Roberts*, 128 Idaho 232, 235, (1996). The question of whether a policy is ambiguous is a question of law over which this Court exercises free review. *Baker v.* 

*Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. of Idaho, Inc.,* 130 Idaho 415, 416-417 (Ct. App. 1997). "To determine whether a policy is ambiguous, the Court must ask whether the policy 'is reasonably subject to conflicting interpretation." *Mutual of Enumclaw v. Box,* 127 Idaho 851, 853 (1995). Subsequent changes in state law that are designed to protect the public welfare can invalidate a contract provision on public policy grounds. *Hill v. American Family Mut. Ins. Co.,* 150 Idaho 619, 623 (2010).

In 2008, the legislature added language to I.C. § 41-2502 mandating that every UIM policy contain a form defining UIM coverage. The Legislature required a standard disclosure form that informs policy holders about their UIM coverage. This standard language specifically describes UIM as providing "difference in limits" or "offset" coverage to insureds when there is insufficient insurance coverage from other owners or operators:

# IDAHO UNINSURED MOTORIST & UNDERINSURED MOTORIST DISCLOSURE STATEMENT (FORM 8169101)

**UIM** coverage may pay damages for bodily injury to an insured person who is legally entitled to collect damages from the owner or operator of a vehicle with inadequate limits of liability insurance coverage.

**UIM** coverage is offered in different form by different insurers, and insurers are not required to offer more than one type of UIM coverage. There are two commonly available forms of UIM coverage - "Difference in limits" (or "Offset") Coverage and "Excess" Coverage. Your insurance policy offers "Difference in Limits" which is briefly explained below:

• "Difference in Limits" (or "Offset") Coverage – The policy's UIM coverage limits are reduced or eliminated by the amount of any damages recovered by any insured, from or on behalf of any underinsured(s) owner or operator(s).

(R. 275, 314). (emphasis added).

The language of the Disclosure plainly states that the insured's recovery from its own UIM is merely "offset" by the amount she recovers from "any underinsured." The Disclosure identifies an "offset" irrespective of who is underinsured, whether it be an owner *or* operator. The remaining UIM isn't terminated, but the insured is able to recover the "difference in [the] limits." The Disclosure's plain language defines UIM coverage to be offset by the amount Plaintiff recovered from any other owners/operators. Farmers' position that Plaintiff loses her entire UIM benefit is contrary to the language in the 2008 insurance policy.

Farmers relies on *Purdy*, which found an insured's UIM could be cutoff if the insured was riding in a third party vehicle. The denial of UIM in *Purdy* revolved around the old "other insurance" policy language, which reads:

## **Other Insurance**

3. We will not provide insurance for a vehicle other than your insured car or your insured motorcycle, unless the owner of that vehicle has no other insurance applicable to this part.

(R. 277-78). Farmers denied Plaintiff's UIM claim on the basis of this "other insurance" provision, arguing that the Supreme Court in its 2002 *Purdy* decision found this provision was not ambiguous and excluded UIM coverage. While this is an accurate description of *Purdy's* holding in 2002, the insurance policy in that case is different from the modified post-2008 insurance policy. The 2008 Disclosure modified UIM coverage: UIM now is "offset" by "any damages" recovered from "any underinsured owner or operator."

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