### Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-20-2017

## Eastman v. Farmers Insurance Company Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44889

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

#### III. ARGUMENT

A. Ms. Eastman's brief fails to identify the issues she is presenting on appeal and merely asks this Court to "second guess" the District Court, without referencing any legal errors of the District Court.

Ms. Eastman's appellate brief fails to comply with the requirements of Idaho Appellate Rule 35. I.A.R. 35 expressly provides that the brief shall include "a list of the issues presented on appeal." I.A.R. 35(a)(4). Also, a general attack on the findings and conclusions of the district court, without specific reference to evidentiary or legal errors, is insufficient to preserve an issue. *Michael v. Zehm*, 74 Idaho 442, 445, 263 P.2d 990, 991 (1953) Under Idaho law, to the extent that an assignment of error is not argued and supported in compliance with the Idaho Appellate Rules, it is deemed to be waived. *Suitts v. Nix*, 141 Idaho 706, 708, 117 P.3d 120, 122 (2005).

Here, Ms. Eastman's brief is missing a significant key component: identify the issue or issues she is presenting on appeal, as is required by I.A.R. 35(a)(4). Furthermore, she fails to specifically identify the alleged legal errors of the District Court. Rather, she generally argues that based on "public policy" she is entitled underinsured motorist coverage, contrary to the express language of the policy and contrary to the binding Idaho precedent. In light of these significant omissions, under Idaho law, Ms. Eastman may have failed to preserve these issues for appeal and/or any argument as to assignment of error is deemed waived. *See Suitts*, 141 Idaho at 708, 117 P.3d at 122.

#### **B.** Applicable Policy Provisions

The appellate issues pending before the Court involve Ms. Eastman's Farmers' underinsured motorist policy, Endorsement ID 021A, which provides, in relevant part, as follows:

#### **Coverage C-1 UNDERinsured Motorist Coverage**

• • •

We will pay all sums which an **insured person** is legally entitled to recover as **damages** from the owner or operator of an **UNDERinsured motor vehicle** because of **bodily injury** sustained by the **insured person**.

#### **Limits of Liability**

- a. Our liability under the UNDERinsured Motorist Coverage cannot exceed the limits of the UNDERinsured Motorist Coverage stated in this policy, and our maximum liability under the UNDERinsured Motorist Coverage is the lesser of:
  - 1. The difference between the amount paid in **damages** to the **insured person** by and for any person or organization who may be legally liable for the **bodily injury**, and the limit of UNDERinsured Motorist Coverage; or
  - 2. The amount of **damages** established but not recovered by any agreement, settlement, or judgment with or for the person or organization legally liable for the **bodily injury**.
- •••

#### **Other Insurance**

3. We will not provide insurance for a vehicle other than your insured car or your insured motorcycle, unless the owner of that vehicle has no other insurance applicable to this part. (R., 277-278)

Under Idaho law, a policy provision is only ambiguous if it is reasonably subject to differing interpretations. *Moss v. Mid-Am. Fire and Marine Ins. Co.*, 103 Idaho 298, 647 P.2d 754 (1982). Additionally, when deciding whether or not a particular provision is ambiguous, the court must consider the provision within the context in which it occurs in the policy. *North Pac. Ins. Co. v. Mai*, 130 Idaho 251, 939 P.2d 570 (1997). As discussed below, the subject policy is not ambiguous.

# C. The District Court in this case correctly applied the doctrine of *Stare Decisis*, relying on *Purdy v. Farmers Ins. Co.*, which remains sound law, to apply the "Other Insurance" clause in the policy limiting Ms. Eastman's UIM coverage.

The specific language of Ms. Eastman's underinsured motorist policy has already been evaluated by the Court. In 2003, the Idaho Supreme Court addressed the "Other Insurance" clause in the Farmers' underinsured motorist policy. *Purdy v. Farmers Ins. Co.*, 138 Idaho 443, 446, 65 P.3d 184, 187 (2003).<sup>1</sup> Ms. Eastman, through her counsel, has admitted that the "Other Insurance" provision in this case is identical to the clause in *Purdy*. (R., 327). Accordingly, the District Court correctly held that it was bound by *stare decisis* and appropriately relied upon *Purdy* in denying Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R., 333). As the District Court aptly held, "*Purdy* remains good law." *Id.* Accordingly, Ms. Eastman's appeal lacks merit.

In *Purdy*, the Purdys' challenged the non-owned, but insured UIM clause in a Farmers' policy. *Purdy*, 138 Idaho at 446, 65 P.3d at 187. As background, prior to the 1997 accident in *Purdy*, the Purdys had purchased an underinsured motorist policy from Farmers Insurance with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Of note, in the Purdys' Farmers policy, this clause was found in paragraph 4, as opposed to paragraph 3 in the subject policy, but otherwise was identically worded to the subject policy.

underinsured limits of \$100,000.00. *Id.* at 445. Beth Purdy was severely injured while riding as a passenger in a car owned and operated by her mother. *Id.* Her mother's car was rear-ended by a truck. *Id.* The truck driver's liability policy settled with the Purdys for \$17,500.00. *Id.* Her mother maintained an underinsured motorist policy with Farmers Alliance and had underinsured motorist limits of \$25,000.00. *Id.* Farmers Alliance paid the Purdys underinsured motorist benefits of \$25,000.00 under her mother's policy. *Id.* 

The Purdys then submitted a proof of loss to Farmers Insurance in an attempt to obtain additional underinsured motorist benefits under their own policy. *Id.* In *Purdy*, Farmers denied the Purdys' claim for underinsured motorist benefits based on the above-referenced "Other Insurance" clause because Ms. Purdy was injured in a vehicle which was not her "insured car" and the owner of the car (her mother) had an underinsured motorist policy. *Id.* 

Thereafter, the Purdys filed a lawsuit against Farmers alleging breach of contract and bad faith. *Id.* In the subsequent litigation, Farmers filed a motion for summary judgment on the Purdys' claim for bad faith. *Id.* On summary judgment, Farmers argued there was no bad faith cause of action because there was no coverage under the policy. *Id.* In opposing Farmers' summary judgment, the Purdys argued that the policy contained several ambiguities. In that case, the Purdys argued that the phrase, "We will not provide insurance for a vehicle other than your insured car" was redundant when read with conjunction with the similarly worded underinsured motorist exclusion which provided "this coverage does not apply to bodily injury sustained by a person if the person was occupying a vehicle you do not own which is insured for

this coverage under another policy." *Purdy*, 138 Idaho at 447, 65 P.3d at 188. The Purdys argued that this redundancy made the policy ambiguous. *Id*.

On appeal, the Court noted that while redundancy may be considered when interpreting an ambiguous provision in an insurance policy, redundancy does not by itself make policy provisions ambiguous. *Id*.

Ultimately, in *Purdy*, the Idaho Supreme Court concluded that the language in the Farmers' policy was unambiguous. *Id.* at 448. The Court also affirmed the District Court's holding that there was no coverage under the Purdys' Farmers policy for Ms. Purdy's injuries because she was injured in a vehicle that was not her insured vehicle and the owner had an underinsured motorist policy. *Id.* 

In this case, based on *Purdy*, the Court should affirm the District Court's ruling and conclude that the "Other Insurance" clause in Farmers' policy is unambiguous and enforceable. (R., 333). As is undisputed in this case, Ms. Eastman was injured in a vehicle other than her "insured car," the Toyota Rav 4. Additionally, the owner of the Van had underinsured motorist coverage which has paid Ms. Eastman for her injuries.

Accordingly, the District Court correctly determined, under the sound law set forth in *Purdy*, that there is no underinsured motorist coverage under Farmers' policy for Ms. Eastman for this accident.

D. The District Court correctly dismissed Ms. Eastman's suggestion that the "Disclosure Statement" is part of the UIM insurance agreement and as such would distinguish this case from *Purdy*.

In its Memorandum Decision and Order, the District Court correctly noted "[a] court reviewing a claim based on the contract begins with the language of the contract itself." (R., 323). *Cristo Viene Pentecostal Church*, 144 Idaho at 307, 160 P.3d at 746. In this case, the Disclosure Statement which forms the basis of Ms. Eastman's argument, in pertinent part, provides as follows:

Idaho law requires that every auto liability insurance policy include **Uninsured Motorist (UM)** coverage and **Underinsured Motorist (UIM)** bodily injury coverage, unless a named insured has rejected these coverages in writing. If the insured is not provided a copy of the written rejection at the time it is made, the insured may receive a copy from the insurer upon request.

UM coverage may pay damages for bodily injury to an insured person who is legally entitled to collect damages from the owner or operator of a vehicle that has no insurance, or from a hit-and-run vehicle where the owner or operator is unknown.

**UIM** coverage may pay damages for bodily injury to an insured person who is legally entitled to collect damages from the owner or operator of a vehicle with inadequate limits of liability insurance coverage.

UIM coverage is offered in different forms by different insurers, and insurers are not required to offer more than one type of UIM coverage. There are two commonly available forms of UIM coverage — "Difference in Limits" (or "Offset") Coverage and "Excess" Coverage. Your policy offers "Difference in Limits" which is briefly explained below:

"Difference in Limits" (or "Offset") Coverage- The policy's UIM coverage limits are reduced or eliminated by the amount of any damages recovered by an insured, from or on behalf of any underinsured owner(s) or operators(s).

This general explanation is NOT an insurance agreement. All auto liability insurance policies that include UM and/or UIM coverage have other terms and conditions that may affect or limit the availability of either coverage....

(R., 275)

. . . .

Before the District Court, Ms. Eastman argued that the above-referenced "Disclosure Statement" was included in the parties' contractual agreement. She argued the Disclosure Statement means that whenever the insured recovers an amount, Defendant's liability is reduced or off-set by that recovery.<sup>2</sup> (R., 327).

In addition to erroneously arguing that the Disclosure Statement is part of the policy, Ms. Eastman's reading of the Disclosure Statement is also misguided because she fails to appreciate the difference between liability insurance and underinsured motorist insurance. Here, the Disclosure Statement states "UIM coverage may pay for bodily injury to an insured person who is legally *entitled to collect damages from the owner* or operator of a vehicle with *inadequate limits of liability insurance coverage*." (Emphasis added.) The italicized words above are of <u>high</u> importance. UIM coverage is limited to circumstances where the owner or operator of a vehicle has inadequate limits of liability insurance coverage. This is fundamental to the purpose of

Mot. Hr'g Nov. 1, 2016 at 3:23 p.m., See (R., 327).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ms. Eastman argues for the following reading of the policy:

We will pay all sums which an insured person is legally entitled to recover as damages from the owner or operator of an underinsured motor vehicle because of bodily injury sustained by the insured person [but] the policy's UIM coverage limits are reduced or eliminated by the amount of any damages recovered by any insured, from or on behalf of any underinsured(s) owner or operator(s).

underinsured motorist coverage. Here, Ms. Eastman suggests that if a vehicle owner is "underinsured," then Ms. Eastman's own policy of insurance should apply to provide underinsured insured motorist benefits to her in this case.

However, the critical flaw in Ms. Eastman's argument is that both the Disclosure Statement and the actual UIM language of her insurance policy provide that UIM payments are for bodily injury to an insured person who is legally entitled to collect damages from the owner or operator of a vehicle with inadequate limits of <u>liability</u> insurance coverage. Hence, while Ms. Eastman is correct that it does not matter if the individual who is underinsured is the operator or the owner, the type of insurance that is insufficient does matter.

Of significance, here, Ms. Eastman is not arguing that the owner of the van she was riding in had any liability for proximately causing the subject. Nor has there has been any suggestion that the van's liability policy was inadequate. Rather, Ms. Eastman's argument is that the van's underinsured motorist coverage for Ms. Eastman was inadequate. Liability insurance and underinsured motorist insurance are different, apply in different circumstances and cannot be intermixed as Ms. Eastman suggests.

While noting Ms. Eastman's suggested interpretation, in its Memorandum Decision and Order, the District Court expressly and succinctly stated, "the dispositive issue with this argument is that the disclosure is not part of the insurance contract." (R., 327). As reviewed by the District Court, the Disclosure Statement explains what the law requires, explains what may be provided to the insured, briefly explains how it may be provided, and then unambiguously provides in bold: "This general explanation is NOT an insurance agreement. All auto liability

insurance policies that include . . . UIM coverage have other terms and conditions that may affect or limit the availability of either coverage." (R., 328 and 275).

In rejecting Ms. Eastman's inclusion argument, the District Court stated "to find that this disclosure statement was part of the contract would defy the plain language of the document." (R., 328). "A document that sets forth in no uncertain terms it is not part of the agreement cannot, by its very own language, establish terms to a contract it is not a part of." (R., 329). Accordingly, the District Court held the disclosure statement was separate from the insurance contract and therefore it cannot be used to interpret the insurance contract. *Id*.

However, of significance, the District Court went one step further and, for the sake of argument, addressed coverage and the language of the contract as if the Disclosure Statement was part of the policy of insurance. Not surprisingly, the end result remained the same. The Disclosure Statement, by its plain terms provides that "other terms and conditions may affect or limit availability of coverage."

Hence, even for sake of argument, if Ms. Eastman's misguided inclusion argument of the Disclosure Statement is accepted and it is considered part of the policy, the "terms and conditions" as set forth in the "Other Insurance" clause further limiting underinsured motorist coverage still remain part of the underinsured motorist policy. (R., 329). Accordingly, based on the controlling precedent of *Purdy*, Ms. Eastman still has no coverage under the policy for this accident.

The bottom line remains, as the District Court aptly explained, Ms. Eastman "has failed to distinguish the policy language and facts from *Purdy* and, consequently, this Court is bound to interpret the same provision in the same fashion." (R., 329).

Similarly, on appeal, Ms. Eastman wholly fails to address the Court's clear contractual holding based on plain language of the document. Ms. Eastman also fails to provide any legal authority to suggest such a ruling was legally erroneous. Rather, on appeal, Ms. Eastman skirts around the straight-forward issue of the plain and unambiguous language of the contract and argues that based on "public policy" the contractual language should be read differently than it is actually written.

Also, on appeal Ms. Eastman improperly, for the first time, raises two new arguments: her argument that the Disclosure Statement is incorporated by reference and her argument that the Disclosure Statement combined with the Policy provides illusory coverage. Here, Ms. Eastman did not raise these arguments in the District Court. (R., 329, fn. 5).

Because these issues were not raised before the District Court, this Court should not consider them on appeal. *Mc Kinney v. State*, 133 Idaho 695, 708, 992 P.2d 144, 157 (1999) citing *McCoy v. State*, 129 Idaho 70, 75, 921 P.2d 1194, 1199 (1996). Furthermore, neither of these arguments are meritorious nor do such arguments provide grounds to overrule *Purdy*.

# E. Farmers' policy and the "Other Insurance" clause do not violate any established public policy in Idaho.

At both the District Court and on appeal, Ms. Eastman makes a general and non-specific argument that the "Other Insurance" underinsured motorist policy language at issue violates

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